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          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: My name is

          3  Councilwoman Margarita Lopez, I am the Chair of the

          4  Committee on Mental Health, Mental Retardation,

          5  Alcohol, Substance Abuse and Disability Services.

          6                 This morning we're going to conduct a

          7  hearing in regard of the ferry services in the City

          8  of New York, and at this moment I'm going to pass

          9  the microphone to Chairman John Liu from the

         10  Committee on Transportation.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         13  Chairwoman Lopez. My name is John Liu, I have the

         14  privilege of co-chairing today's hearing with

         15  Council Member Margarita Lopez.

         16                 We want to welcome all of you to this

         17  important discussion about improving accessibility

         18  to all people in New York, and let me just start

         19  this hearing off by saying that the Council hereby

         20  finds that the City of New York waterborne commuter

         21  services facilities are not uniformly accessible to

         22  disabled persons. This is a matter of serious

         23  concern affecting public safety and welfare, and we

         24  believe that there is an immediate need for

         25  regulation of waterborne commuter services in order
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          2  to enable disabled members of the public to have

          3  access to such services on an equal basis with

          4  non-disabled persons. We believe that under the

          5  Americans With Disabilities Act disabled persons

          6  have the right to access commuter transportation

          7  services on an equal and non-discriminatory basis,

          8  but currently there are no federal or state laws,

          9  rules or regulations that are in effect that

         10  establish the specific standards concerning access

         11  by disabled persons to waterborne commuter services

         12  facilities in the City or the safety of such persons

         13  when utilizing such facilities.

         14                 And as a result, disabled persons in

         15  the City of New York are often not assured that they

         16  can safely and consistently access these waterborne

         17  commuter services facilities.

         18                 The legislation that we're

         19  considering sets specific standards in relation to

         20  mandating accessible waterborne commuter services

         21  facilities for disabled persons, thereby minimizing

         22  the tremendous and unfair burden placed upon people

         23  with disabilities who rely on these services for

         24  daily activities, such as commuting to and from

         25  work, pursuing educational activities, and other
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          2  pursuits that they may undertake.

          3                 I'm pleased that we're having this

          4  hearing today and we have several witnesses who will

          5  be testifying. Let me turn it back to my co-chair

          6  Margarita Lopez.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Good morning, and

          8  thank you for joining us this morning for this joint

          9  Committee hearing of the Committee on Mental Health,

         10  Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and

         11  Disability Services and the Committee on

         12  Transportation shared by Council Member John Liu.

         13                 I am Margarita Lopez and I am the

         14  Chair of the Committee on Mental Health and Mental

         15  Retardation, et cetera, et cetera.

         16                 We are here today to discuss proposed

         17  Intro. 261-A, the Accessible Waterborne Commuter

         18  Services Facilities Transportation Act.

         19                 This is the third hearing on this

         20  bill, and I'm looking forward to hearing comments

         21  from members of the disabled community, elected

         22  officials, water ferry operators and others.

         23                 I understand that the Administration

         24  will not be testifying today, however,

         25  representatives from the Department of
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          2  Transportation and other mayoral agencies are here

          3  with us today in the audience. Thank you, all, for

          4  coming here today.

          5                 The issues addressed by this proposed

          6  legislation are critical to disabled commuters who

          7  use the City water ferry system to commute.

          8                 It is also critical to people who are

          9  not disabled, because sometimes we forget that a

         10  person who is disabled have family, family members

         11  that would like to travel with them, would like to

         12  be with them, and the person who use a wheelchair

         13  cannot take the transportation, the family member

         14  cannot take it either.

         15                 Ensuring the kind of access that this

         16  legislation proposed will also make our ferry system

         17  more accessible, not only to those who are

         18  physically disabled, but to the elderly and others

         19  as well, as they have hear from some in the private

         20  sector, greater accessibility also make it easier to

         21  move all people on and off of ferries. So, it's good

         22  for business too. This legislation has been in the

         23  works for a very long time, as we know, and its time

         24  has come. We look forward to hearing from you and

         25  moving swiftly to making this process legislation a
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          2  reality.

          3                 At this moment I would like to thank

          4  people who have called me in my personal issue. I

          5  have my partner in the hospital who has been going

          6  through some very serious operation, but she's okay,

          7  and the operation that she suffer was an operation

          8  of the back, and she was a possible person to become

          9  a user of wheelchair, and I want to make clear for

         10  people that my quest for people with disability

         11  doesn't have anything to do with my partner, but it

         12  is very interesting when you less expect it how a

         13  personal issue can become part of your political

         14  struggle and you never expect that.

         15                 Then this legislation for me bring

         16  home why is it that we New Yorkers must fight for

         17  accessibility in this City because you will never

         18  know when you will need it, and I am an example of

         19  that.

         20                 I want to thank everybody who have

         21  called me, and everybody who have donated blood for

         22  my partner. I thank you and God bless each and every

         23  one of you, and forgive me for losing my composure.

         24                 At this point we're going to call the

         25  first person to testify.
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          2                 MS. GONZALEZ: Mr. Peter Johansen.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Before we

          4  continue, it is my custom that everybody who speak,

          5  that they introduce themselves. It's more than fair

          6  that the public know the people who are dealing with

          7  the business of government.

          8                 I'm going to ask each and every one

          9  of the staff and the members who are sitting at this

         10  point to introduce themselves please.

         11                 MS. DePEDRO: Mari DePedro,

         12  Legislative Policy Analyst.

         13                 MS. GONZALEZ: Laura Gonzalez, Counsel

         14  to the Mental Health Committee.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're also joined by

         16  staff for the Transportation Committee, Mitchell

         17  Schwartz, Legislative Counsel; Katie Schmid, Policy

         18  Analyst; and we've also been joined by Council

         19  Member Larry Seabrook from the Bronx and a member of

         20  the Transportation Committee.

         21                 We've also been joined by Council

         22  Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn and a member of the

         23  Transportation Committee.

         24                 MS. GONZALEZ: Mr. Fox, will you

         25  please come up as well? Thank you.
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          2                 Good morning. Will you please raise

          3  your right hands? Do you swear or affirm that the

          4  testimony you will provide here today will be

          5  truthful in all respects?

          6                 MR. FOX: I do.

          7                 MR. JOHANSEN: I do.

          8                 MS. GONZALEZ: Thank you.

          9                 Mr. Johansen, you may proceed.

         10                 MR. JOHANSEN: Dear Councilwoman

         11  Lopez, Chairman Liu, and the Committee, thank you

         12  very much for the opportunity to address this joint

         13  hearing of the New York City Council Committee on

         14  Mental Health, Retardation, Alcoholism and

         15  Disability Services and the Committee on

         16  Transportation.

         17                 The last time I testified it was

         18  January of this year, and within two weeks of that

         19  date I was activated by the US Navy to perform as it

         20  turns out six months of active duty in Turkey,

         21  Poland and Italy.

         22                 When I returned at the end of August,

         23  I was happy to see substantial progress at New York

         24  Waterway to providing handicapped accessibility

         25  within our fleet and terminals. Just let me recap
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          2  the progress made by New York Waterway in the past

          3  year.

          4                 Six fully accessible Catamaran

          5  passenger ferries have joined the fleet. This has

          6  allowed us to retire five side-loading inaccessible

          7  ferries.

          8                 This now means that we have a fleet

          9  of 33 handicapped accessible bow-loading vessels,

         10  the largest fleet of such vessels in the nation.

         11                 Fifteen new wheelchair buses have

         12  been purchased and are in service. They will be

         13  joined this month by ten more wheelchair accessible

         14  buses boosting our fleet of accessible buses to 26.

         15  We are on schedule for '88 compliance with our bus

         16  fleet.

         17                 The terminal at Battery Park City has

         18  been retrofitted with mechanical ramps that are ADA

         19  compliant. Construction continues at our new Pier 79

         20  ferry terminal. This state-of-the-art facility will

         21  be fully ADA compliant in the schedule for

         22  completion in October 2004.

         23                 A disability sensitivity course was

         24  developed jointly with the Eastern Paralyzed

         25  Veterans Association.  It is now part of basic
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          2  training for our ferry crews, ticket agents and bus

          3  drivers.

          4                 These efforts are visible examples of

          5  an organization that has a professed commitment to

          6  making its transportation system accessible to all

          7  riders.

          8                 While the current revision of Intro.

          9  261 is an improvement to the original draft, there

         10  remains a number of reasons why we oppose this bill:

         11                 - Construction standards for vessels

         12  engaged in interstate commerce are still within the

         13  jurisdiction of the Coast Guard. Accordingly, we

         14  feel vessel design standards specified by the bill

         15  are preempted by federal law. We would be happy to

         16  see the rule-making log jam between the Access Board

         17  and the US Coast Guard resolved, but we feel that

         18  federal standards for the industry, with which we

         19  are already in voluntary compliance, are the best

         20  way to set standards for construction and operation

         21  of vessels.

         22                 - Under the bill three separate

         23  agencies are tasked with administering the law,

         24  creating a cumbersome bureaucracy along with

         25  reporting requirements that are out of line with any
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          2  problems that now exist within the industry.

          3                 - the bill lacks any mechanism for

          4  notification of a deficiency and a timetable for

          5  that deficiency to be corrected.

          6                 - It is punitive towards a single

          7  component of a larger industry and creates

          8  requirements that are more stringent than those for

          9  competitive modes of transportation.

         10                 - there is a lack of any

         11  "grandfathering" clauses that have traditionally

         12  been a part of the ADA philosophy.

         13                 In summary, this bill is

         14  over-reaching, unnecessary and likely preempted by

         15  federal law. We should recognize that the private

         16  ferry industry in New York harbor is made up of

         17  private companies engaged in a highly competitive

         18  environment. The public transportation agencies that

         19  are our competitors are given more lenient

         20  timetables than is the private sector.

         21                 We are all working toward the same

         22  end - full accessibility for the disabled community,

         23  and we are making excellent progress. We believe

         24  that this can be achieved without this bill.

         25                 MS. GONZALEZ: Mr. Fox.
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          2                 MR. FOX: Good morning. I don't have

          3  any written testimony, so I generally speak

          4  extemporaneously. I'd like to thank both the Chairs

          5  for their persistence and foresight in insisting

          6  that the City that has the largest ferry fleet in

          7  the United States, if not the world, comply with the

          8  regulations to make them accessible for the

          9  disabled.

         10                 The New York Water Taxi is a very

         11  small vessel, but just to give you an example of our

         12  commitment, during construction my partner Douglas

         13  Durst agreed to make the vessels two feet wider so

         14  that the passageways could be 36 inches wide, the

         15  doorways are 36 inches wide, the seats for the

         16  disabled are placed right in front of the vessel,

         17  minimizing the need to traverse down the aisles, and

         18  they're placed in a way that both has clamps on the

         19  floor, as the law requires, and provide great

         20  visibility for the disabled, as the doors are glass

         21  in the front.

         22                 We have an ADA-accessible head on the

         23  first deck, and we are committed to making our

         24  vessel, continuing to keep our vessel accessible to

         25  the disabled.
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          2                 I have not had a lot of time to

          3  review the legislation, and there are a lot of

          4  specific numbers in the legislation, 32 inches, 43

          5  inches, that I've asked my Naval architects to

          6  review. I don't think we'll have any problems, and

          7  if we do, I will contact the Committee as we soon as

          8  we hear there might be a concern.

          9                 There are some of the things that,

         10  again, carrying a five foot gangway, I'm not quite

         11  sure of the definitions between gangway and

         12  transition platform. We do have a three foot by 36

         13  inch wide portable ramps that we keep between the

         14  seats that can fold open, have an edge on the side

         15  so the disabled won't fall off the ramp, but I'm not

         16  sure if that's what's exactly called for in the

         17  legislation and I will follow up with you to ensure

         18  that it is. Being that we're a small boat, it's

         19  difficult to carry a lot of things, so I want to

         20  make whatever we can as affordable as possible.

         21                 The one other non-compliant issue

         22  with New York Water Taxi would be the number of

         23  seats that have to be available to the disabled. I'd

         24  like to compliment the Committee and the staff for

         25  meeting with the operators, adjusting the
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          2  legislation to our concerns. One thing that I had

          3  voiced in the past that still seems to be in the

          4  bill is that vessels less than 100 passengers would

          5  be required to have four seats for the disabled

          6  wheelchair required disabled. Our vessels only have

          7  two seats. We have never had a problem in the year

          8  that we've been operating with not enough space

          9  being available, but that would require us to take

         10  four seats out to put two more seats in, and we only

         11  have 54 seats in the boat so we'd be removing almost

         12  ten percent of the seating to add that additional

         13  two seats to be compliant with the new legislation.

         14                 There are a number of changes I might

         15  suggest, that although they don't address New York

         16  Water Taxi as an individual operator, I think

         17  address equity and fairness to the City, state and

         18  federal agencies and public authorities and private

         19  operators who will have to amend their current

         20  facilities.

         21                 One is that there does not seem to be

         22  any grandfathering in here for any vessels or

         23  facilities that were built prior to the law's

         24  enactment.

         25                 The second element of the suggestion
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          2  is that if there is no grandfathering, that some

          3  sort of financing be made available to the

          4  Department of Transportation, the Port Authority,

          5  the private operators that will be required to cure

          6  their vessels and/or their docking facilities as a

          7  result of the regulations in the legislation.

          8                 And then lastly might be that the

          9  time for curing, 180 days, is too short, and let me

         10  give you an example. We know that City agencies in

         11  their diligence have to labor to put together a

         12  proper RFP prior to getting services than advertise

         13  and distribute that RFP, have a review period, get

         14  responses, interviews, that process in itself would

         15  take 180 days.

         16                 So, I don't think it would be

         17  possible for agencies that have major facilities to

         18  amend to respond in a timely fashion. And I think

         19  that if you looked at those three elements, if there

         20  were grandfathering, it wouldn't help the disabled.

         21  If there were not grandfathering, then some public

         22  financing should be made available in some way of

         23  grants or City budget allocations for DOT or

         24  whatever to help private operators and agencies

         25  respond.
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          2                 And then lastly, the time frame

          3  realistically within which agencies or private

          4  operators could respond, because we dock at

          5  City-owned facilities. Every facility we dock at is

          6  owned by the City of New York. So, you know, we are

          7  aware of their concerns, of their ability to respond

          8  to this in a timely fashion.

          9                 Let me close by again complimenting

         10  the two of you and Ann and members of the disabled

         11  community who have pushed this issue, it's right and

         12  proper that New York City be on the forefront of

         13  this at a national level, and even though there are

         14  not state and federal laws, I grew up as an activist

         15  and I had a pin that said, if the people lead,

         16  eventually the leaders will follow.

         17                 So, you know, I think this is an

         18  example of enlightened leadership and we look

         19  forward to working with you in any way we can to

         20  ensure that we comply with the letter of spirit and

         21  intent of the law.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Fox.

         25                 I want to thank both of you for
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          2  coming one more time to testify. I'm glad that

          3  you're back. When I learned that you were leaving, I

          4  was a little bit concerned, but I'm very glad that

          5  you are here in one piece, and thank you for serving

          6  our country and for willing to be part of our

          7  military system, and God bless you for that.

          8                 I want to make a comment. Mr. Fox,

          9  you have been such a wonderful person in regard of

         10  this issue, and it has been so fantastic, the

         11  feedback that you have given us, and I want to

         12  guarantee to you that your willingness to make the

         13  vessel wheelchair accessible have not been

         14  unnoticed, it has been very noticeable for me.

         15                 Saying that, in regard of the removal

         16  of the seats, we're going to look into that request

         17  and we're going to get back to you in regard of that

         18  issue. It is very important for me not to hurt your

         19  business but to the opposite, and I guarantee to you

         20  that we're going to take that very seriously.

         21                 I only want to warn you that it need

         22  to be in accordance to the side of the vessel. And I

         23  see your issue in regard of your vessels being

         24  smaller and how that will affect the capacity of

         25  having two or four, I comprehend that very well.

                                                            20

          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2                 In regard of the grandfather, the ADA

          3  laws were passed over 13 years ago and the

          4  businesses that both of you have put together in

          5  place didn't begin 13 years ago, therefore the ADA

          6  laws should be something at this point that guide

          7  everybody in this country. What is sad is that it's

          8  not. And we continue to ignore the ADA laws, even

          9  when we're talking about land transportation that is

         10  not connected to the boats. I'm saying that to say

         11  that when the connectors were put in place to

         12  transport people from the ferry system to the

         13  subway, they were not even wheelchair accessible.

         14  Then although I am sympathetic to the grandfather

         15  issue, I also very concerned about the refusal of

         16  all of us, not just the operators of ferries, even

         17  the Building Department continue to ignore the ADA

         18  laws that have been passed in this country.

         19                 I will seriously look into it, and I

         20  hear you, but I want you to be mindful of the fact

         21  that I continue to see the ignoring the violation

         22  and the pretending that the ADA laws don't exist

         23  from 13 years already.

         24                 With that, I don't have any other

         25  comments, and I thank you for coming to testify. I
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          2  think that some of the members of the Committee may

          3  have something to ask you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I also want to thank

          5  both of you for your efforts on behalf of the

          6  company's and the public to help further the

          7  progress of ferry transportation in the City of New

          8  York. In this City ferries and the potential use of

          9  the waterways is clearly underutilized, and I hope

         10  that in the coming years we will be able to develop

         11  more and more waterborne transportation, number one,

         12  because it makes sense. There are a lot of other

         13  cities who take full advantage of their waterways,

         14  and here in New York where we are connected by so

         15  many different liquid channels, we should certainly

         16  be taking advantage of that ultimately to provide

         17  accessibility for all New Yorkers.

         18                 I know that the Speaker and the City

         19  Council, we support making all of our transportation

         20  options accessible to everybody, and so while you

         21  have already invested a great deal in your companies

         22  and operations, I think things are still in

         23  relatively nation stages, so we want to catch these

         24  things at the beginning before more and more

         25  infrastructure is created in order to provide this
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          2  waterborne transportation. So, that's why we're

          3  considering this bill, it's a bill that makes sense,

          4  it's a bill that we've worked on for quite a long

          5  time now, as Margarita Lopez explained before, and,

          6  again, the intent is to develop this very valuable

          7  form of transportation, one that will further

          8  connect all of the far reaches of the City of New

          9  York, and we want to do so in a way that from the

         10  get-go, or if not from the absolute get-go, from the

         11  relative get-go, make sure that all of the systems

         12  in place, including not only the boats, but the

         13  infrastructure, but all of the set-ups and

         14  connections are made accessible to all New Yorkers,

         15  and that is our intent here. So, we recognize the

         16  efforts that you have undertaken, but we still are

         17  going to push for more. Thank you.

         18                 Are there any questions or comments

         19  from Committee members?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Well, at this

         21  point I would like to one more time thank you.

         22  Before we were in this session, you indicated that

         23  at this point you have moved a lot of the items into

         24  compliance; can you enumerate them again for me

         25  please?
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          2                 MR. JOHANSEN: Well, for one thing we

          3  had the engineers from the Eastern Paralyzed

          4  Veterans Association, came to survey our terminals,

          5  all locations, and basically gave us a list of

          6  things that needed to be done to bring them into

          7  compliance, and the majority of those things have

          8  been completed, and in fact some of the things that

          9  we did as a result of the recommendations, I noticed

         10  have fallen out of the bill, which is not a big

         11  deal, but things like TTY phones (phonetic) and

         12  things like that, lowered water fountains, changed

         13  signage, you know, lowered counters for the snack

         14  bar, things like that, so there's been an ongoing

         15  thing. Some of our terminals have been retrofitted

         16  now with the mechanical ramps, and, you know, that's

         17  an ongoing thing. That, to us, is the design of the

         18  future, that everything has a mechanical ramp, and a

         19  way to bridge that gap between the float and the

         20  boat.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then all of the

         22  items that you're talking about are connected to

         23  land.

         24                 MR. JOHANSEN: We're fortunate because

         25  the vessels themselves are, you know, they've been
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          2  built with the new proposed regulations in mind, and

          3  so they're largely compliant. You know, if there are

          4  little things like the mirror in the bathroom not

          5  being at the right angle or a grab rail or

          6  something, but as far as distance goes and

          7  accessibility, the ability to get on and off, that's

          8  why we like our bow-loading vessels, they are the

          9  most accessible designs, the design what is actually

         10  used, the bow loaders, we think that's the way to

         11  go, and as we have gotten more of our, you know,

         12  built more vessels, we've been able to retire our

         13  side-loading vessels and with the path coming next

         14  month, we'll be able to get rid of more of the side

         15  loaders because there won't be as much demand for

         16  the ferry services from Hoboken to downtown New

         17  York, because it will be more transportation

         18  capacity.

         19                 So, as we get rid of more and more of

         20  the side-loading boats then the fleet becomes fully

         21  accessible with the bow loaders.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Just in checking

         23  with the last hearing, in the last hearing you

         24  informed us that you will not longer have the side

         25  loaders because they were rented from the fishing
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          2  industry, and that you were going to get rid of

          3  them. It is my understanding from the hearing that

          4  we have, that by now you will not have them, that

          5  that situation has changed?

          6                 MR. JOHANSEN: Well, the path hasn't

          7  opened yet. When the path opens, we will have just

          8  about all of those gone. As far as the ones that we

          9  owned, we have retired those boats --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's what I'm

         11  talking about.

         12                 MR. JOHANSEN: As we brought in the

         13  new boats, okay?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But the one that

         15  you were -- correct me if I'm wrong, the ones that

         16  you said that you rented --

         17                 MR. JOHANSEN: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I'm saying rented,

         19  maybe I'm not using the right way.

         20                 MR. JOHANSEN: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I remember, and

         22  perhaps I'm confused, I remember you told me that

         23  they will be out of business once you get the front

         24  loaders; do you still have those ones or no more?

         25                 MR. JOHANSEN: We have them only in
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          2  one service right now, and that is from Hoboken to

          3  Pier 11.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Only?

          5                 MR. JOHANSEN: Yes. We had them in

          6  there, several other services.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And how many there

          8  are?

          9                 MR. JOHANSEN: Probably about eight or

         10  so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Eight or so of

         12  that amount.

         13                 Then the other ones, the front

         14  loaders --

         15                 MR. JOHANSEN: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: All of them are

         17  used in New York City?

         18                 MR. JOHANSEN: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Not in connection

         20  to New Jersey?

         21                 MR. JOHANSEN: All of our services are

         22  New York to New Jersey.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then I'm just

         24  trying to make clarification.

         25                 MR. JOHANSEN: Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The Hoboken stop

          3  is the only one who is using the side-loaders?

          4                 MR. JOHANSEN: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No other place is

          6  using the side-loaders?

          7                 MR. JOHANSEN: Correct.

          8                 Well, I shouldn't say that, because

          9  Bellford, the ones that go to Monmouth County New

         10  Jersey, they're bigger boats and a couple of those

         11  are side-loading vessels, but they also, you know,

         12  are built for going off-shore. In other words, they

         13  have different design specifications because they

         14  have to be more seaworthy.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The reason I'm

         16  asking you this question is because in a deafening

         17  issue that is not related to this particular one, is

         18  connected to the Veteran Hospital that is proposed

         19  to be closed on 23rd Street, I was surprised to

         20  learn that veterans from New Jersey transport

         21  themselves on a regular basis to the hospital

         22  because it's better accessible for them from New

         23  Jersey to New York City, believe it or not, than to

         24  go to the Veteran Hospital in New Jersey. And during

         25  the hearing that we have here, some of them shared
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          2  with me that many of the veterans that are

          3  wheelchair users would like to come to the Veteran

          4  Hospital in New York City, but they can't because

          5  the transportation for them is impossible. If this

          6  bill will go through, it will guarantee that they,

          7  the veterans who are in a wheelchair, will have that

          8  transportation and will come to the Veteran Hospital

          9  on 21st Street.

         10                 That's the reason I was asking you

         11  that.

         12                 MR. JOHANSEN: We like having more

         13  customers.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Excuse me?

         15                 MR. JOHANSEN: I said that would be

         16  more customers, so that's a good thing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You will have more

         18  people traveling because that means that they will

         19  use this as a transportation means to go to their

         20  meetings and the appointments.

         21                 MR. JOHANSEN: Sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And, you know,

         23  veterans, sadly enough, and this is not what we

         24  would like, but they come back disabled, and one of

         25  the things to happen is that many of them come back
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          2  disabled in use of wheelchairs. Then that population

          3  is pretty big and they will definitely benefit from

          4  this bill, they have expressed that to me. Then I

          5  thank you for the answer to that question.

          6                 Yes, Mr. Fox.

          7                 MR. FOX: I was going to say that I am

          8  a disabled Vietnam veteran, and the Veterans

          9  Hospital, on another issue, I hope the Chair fights

         10  to keep the 23rd Street Veterans facility open,

         11  because so many of our facilities are being

         12  threatened with being closed because of a lack of

         13  patients, and increased accessibility will help.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: One more thing.

         16  The buses that you have, the connectors I call it,

         17  when all of them will be fully accessible and no

         18  longer will be the ones that were being used so far

         19  that were not accessible?

         20                 MR. JOHANSEN: I don't have a

         21  timetable but I will get one and pass it along to

         22  you through counsel.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Didn't you sign an

         24  agreement where you are going to make these buses

         25  all accessible for a certain and specific day some
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          2  time ago?

          3                 MR. JOHANSEN: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No? Oh, I was led

          5  to believe that. Then this is fascinating because I

          6  thought that that was an agreement in place.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 I have to make a comment right now.

          9  This is one of the reasons why the grandfather is a

         10  problem for me. In no way those buses ever, ever

         11  should have been not wheelchair accessible. In no

         12  way. Because in transportation issues based on the

         13  channels, I understand that, but in terms of the

         14  land, the buses never should have been allowed not

         15  to be wheelchair accessible. If it's not by the laws

         16  that exist, at least it should have been by the

         17  conscience that all of us should have, at this point

         18  that in our City we embrace ADA laws, and we believe

         19  in them and we believe that people have the right to

         20  equal access. And those buses should have never been

         21  the way that they were put in place and the kind

         22  that they were put in place.

         23                 The reason for that I don't know, but

         24  there is where I have conflict with the question of

         25  the grandfather. Thank you.
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          2                 MS. GONZALEZ: George Sweeting.

          3                 Will you each identify yourselves,

          4  please, for the record.

          5                 MR. SWEETING: I'm George Sweeting, a

          6  Deputy Director at the Independent Budget Office.

          7                 MS. ZELIBRIZI: I'm Rochelle

          8  Zelebrizi. I'm the Health Care Analyst at the

          9  Independent Budget Office.

         10                 MS. GONZALEZ: Will you please raise

         11  your right hands.

         12                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         13  testimony you will provide here today will be

         14  truthful in all respects?

         15                 MR. SWEETING: I do.

         16                 MS. GONZALEZ: Thank you. You may

         17  proceed.

         18                 MR. SWEETING: Okay. Good morning,

         19  members of the two Committees here. Thank you for

         20  the opportunity to testify. Last winter IBO

         21  submitted a written analysis of the -- or an attempt

         22  at looking at some of the fiscal implications for

         23  the City that would fall out from Intro. 261, that

         24  was, we had undertaken that at the request of

         25  Chairwoman Lopez, and then at the February, I think
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          2  it was some time in late February, we testified at a

          3  hearing where we went through some of the findings

          4  and conclusions of that analysis.

          5                 So, I don't have a written statement

          6  today, because we've submitted that material and you

          7  know, it's available, we'd be happy to answer some

          8  questions on it.

          9                 As we briefly look through the

         10  current amended version of the Intro., we didn't see

         11  anything that would significantly alter some of the

         12  cost estimates that we had made at the time, and,

         13  again, we were largely focusing on the estimated

         14  impact for New York City. You know, obviously

         15  significant pieces of this legislation affect costs

         16  for operators, for private operators, but we were

         17  for the most part focusing on what it would do for

         18  New York City.

         19                 You know, I just highlight one or two

         20  points from the previous work. Much of the

         21  shore-side facilities that are affected by this

         22  legislation are owned by the City, and so ultimately

         23  any compliance cost with those facilities would

         24  ultimately be borne by the City in one way or

         25  another, either a larger subsidy, smaller rents or
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          2  direct capital outlays.

          3                 And when we looked at it last winter,

          4  one of the assumptions we made was that most of the,

          5  we assumed particularly the EDC projects that are

          6  already in the capital plan, and a number of them

          7  are underway, were largely in compliance with the

          8  requirements of this legislation.

          9                 Now, we were not able at the time to

         10  confirm that. We couldn't get enough information to

         11  make that an absolute determination. So, I think

         12  that remains an open question. If you assume that

         13  the City has already designed and budgeted those

         14  projects in a way that meet the requirements of ADA

         15  and this legislation, then you know it's safe to

         16  conclude that there aren't significant additional

         17  incremental costs to the City out of complying with

         18  this legislation, and that was the key assumption we

         19  made. You know, as I said, at the time we weren't

         20  able to confirm it, I think it's a reasonable

         21  assumption, but I would think that's something you

         22  want to continue to try to get to the bottom of and

         23  look at.

         24                 There's already been discussion this

         25  morning about where the rest of the costs lie with
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          2  the private operators. You know, we offer one or two

          3  cost estimates on some of the particular items, it

          4  sounds like there's been some progress in some of

          5  those areas since then, although the buses remain

          6  obviously the big issue. We noticed that the

          7  language is somewhat different in terms of the

          8  requirements for the buses this time, and it wasn't

          9  clear to us what that's actually going to do to the

         10  cost for the firms, whether it can be read that they

         11  have to move faster and whether there's a

         12  requirement that still permits some kind of

         13  retrofitting or is it a requirement really that

         14  leads to the immediate purchase of new buses?

         15                 If in either case, but particularly

         16  in the latter case, you know, the 180-day window is

         17  an issue to at least keep in mind, 180 days in the

         18  way certainly the City operates and I think in a way

         19  some large enterprises operate, 180 days is fairly

         20  short period of time to actually turn around and

         21  change your procurement plan, change your budget, so

         22  that might be something to at least keep in mind.

         23                 You know, other than that, as I said,

         24  most of the estimates we had tried to make last

         25  winter I think are largely in place and so the
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          2  amendments don't seem to have made significant

          3  changes in that area.

          4                 I'd be happy to take any questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: At this moment we

          6  don't have any questions, I only have a comment.

          7                 The 180 days is something that we are

          8  more than glad to be flexible. I want to remind IBO

          9  and anyone who is listening, that I've been given

         10  more than 180 days for this problem to be addressed,

         11  and the hearings that we've been having on this

         12  issue, this has been mentioned to me over and over

         13  again and at the time that we begin the process, we

         14  were told that the organizations in question was

         15  fixing the problem, that include the Department of

         16  Transportation, the owners of the ferries and all

         17  along we have been mindful of the 180 days, but the

         18  180 days has been more than 180 days already, it's

         19  going to be almost a year.

         20                 Then I want to make clear that we are

         21  here to stimulate the economy of New York City, but

         22  never to forget the rights of people with

         23  disability. Those two things have to be balanced,

         24  and in that context is that I sit here as a Chair of

         25  this Committee.
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          2                 MR. SWEETING: We're not in any way

          3  advocating that it be more than 180 days, I'm just

          4  introducing a professional skepticism about the

          5  ability of the City certainly to move that quickly

          6  on 180 days, and if you've got a set of deadlines

          7  and eventually penalties, that the City -- let me

          8  put it, the City would have to move extraordinarily

          9  fast to meet these deadlines, and there's no reason

         10  why -- they're appropriate deadlines, but I'd be

         11  surprised if we did.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I hear you. I

         13  understand that, but again let's not forget, ADA

         14  laws were passed 13 years ago. Any pier that built,

         15  anything that was done on land is supposed to be

         16  wheelchair accessible already and never to violate

         17  the law.

         18                 And when we went and investigate,

         19  what they found, that every single violation of the

         20  law possible was there.

         21                 MR. SWEETING: I remember the

         22  presentation, it was very illuminating.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         24                 MS. GONZALEZ: Mr. John Gresham.

         25                 Will you please state your name for
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          2  the record?

          3                 MR. GRESHAM: My name is John Gresham.

          4  I am a lawyer with New York Lawyers for the Public

          5  Interest. I come to speak on behalf of Disabled In

          6  Action of Metropolitan New York, which has been

          7  concerned about this subject for eight years.

          8                 MS. GONZALEZ: Before you proceed, I

          9  have to swear you in.

         10                 Will you please raise your right

         11  hand.

         12                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         13  testimony you will provide here today will be

         14  truthful in all respects?

         15                 MR. GRESHAM: Yes, of course.

         16                 MS. GONZALEZ: Thank you. You may

         17  proceed.

         18                 MR. GRESHAM: I'd appreciate it,

         19  actually, if you'd indulge me to look at these

         20  without looking at the index first.

         21                 For example, look at the first three

         22  pictures. I'll tell you that the first two were

         23  taken at the World Financial Center. That's a New

         24  York Waterway frontloader. The third picture is from

         25  West 38th Street. That's also a New York Waterway
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          2  frontloader.

          3                 Now, can you tell when these were

          4  taken?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can I tell?

          6                 MR. GRESHAM: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: When they were

          8  taken?

          9                 MR. GRESHAM: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You're talking

         11  about these photos that we took from the Committee?

         12                 MR. GRESHAM: These are actually

         13  photos that other people took, mostly myself.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes. These photos

         15  were taken last summer. Not this summer, last

         16  summer.

         17                 MR. GRESHAM: Well, let me explain.

         18  I'm trying to make a point here about the lack of

         19  progress.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         21                 MR. GRESHAM: The first two pictures

         22  were from 1995.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         24                 MR. GRESHAM: It's when DIA first

         25  became actively involved in the issue. That's a New
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          2  York Waterway boat on the Hoboken run I believe

          3  approaching the World Financial Center, just about

          4  to open the gate, and after the gate is opened, a

          5  few moments later the second picture shows Frieda

          6  Zames approaching the gap that she cannot roll over.

          7  That's 1995, okay?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

          9                 MR. GRESHAM: Look to the third

         10  picture, please. That is a brand new New York

         11  Waterway front loader seven months old, at their

         12  newly spruced up pier at West 38th Street last

         13  Sunday.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: This Sunday?

         15                 MR. GRESHAM: Yes, three days ago.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The third photo?

         17                 MR. GRESHAM: Yes. That's right.

         18                 I rode that boat last Sunday and made

         19  that photograph.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ; right.

         21                 MR. GRESHAM: Now, when I boarded the

         22  boat, it left from one slip and came back to

         23  another. When I boarded the boat it didn't even have

         24  the step. I boarded at a different slip. And I asked

         25  the crewman, suppose I was in a wheelchair, what
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          2  would you do? Do you have a gang plank? This is the

          3  guy who took my ticket, and he said something which

          4  I -- he mumbled something which I couldn't

          5  understand. I didn't think it was a yes, so I said

          6  what would you have to do, pick me up to put me on

          7  there? He said, yes, I guess we would. And then when

          8  the boat returned, it landed at this spot and they

          9  had that step.

         10                 If I might ask you to flip to the

         11  next picture. A similar step on Pier 11, which as

         12  you know has been rebuilt with a huge amount of

         13  money, a lot of it federal aid. That step was there,

         14  and this photograph was taken three weeks ago, and

         15  you can see a disturbance in the water just below

         16  the step. A boat had just unloaded and loaded

         17  passengers at that step. The boat pulled away before

         18  I got close enough to take a picture, but I saw it

         19  unloading and reloading using that step. That's on

         20  Pier 11. Different location but very similar step.

         21                 Now, Mr. Johansen testified that his

         22  frontloaders are accessible. Some of them at least I

         23  know are once you get on them, if you can get on

         24  them, but that is a big problem.

         25                 Flipping ahead to the fifth picture,
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          2  this shows again the new frontloader that I rode on

          3  last Sunday. This is at Bellford, New Jersey, and

          4  this is the method they use to load and unload

          5  passengers at Bellford, they used a side door.

          6  Although it is a frontloader, they used the side

          7  door.

          8                 That door has a lip at the bottom

          9  which you could see in this photograph. You pointed

         10  just at the end of the gang plank that went from the

         11  dock to the boat. That lip is four and a half inches

         12  high, and there's no ramp to get over it. If you're

         13  in a wheelchair you can't go through that door

         14  unless somebody picks you up bodily. That was last

         15  Sunday, and this is a front-loading boat, yet the

         16  side door with that lift was used last Sunday. It's

         17  a virtually brand new boat. Quite a beautiful boat,

         18  I should say. These are very nice vessels, but they

         19  have problems and they aren't addressed yet, despite

         20  all we've heard about progress.

         21                 I should tell you there are some

         22  maritime language in the legislation, that lip is

         23  called a combing, which refers to that, among other

         24  things, what that term refers to.

         25                 This boat also, although brand new,
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          2  does not have, as far as I could see, clear deck

          3  space for a person in a wheelchair to sit. In that

          4  respect it's different from Mr. Fox's boat, which

          5  have some clear spaces. I also could not see any

          6  folding or removable seats, which would be another

          7  way to accomplish that, sort of like the buses in

          8  New York City have. As you may have noticed, if you

          9  ridden a bus in the last few years, when a person

         10  using a wheelchair gets in via the lift, right

         11  opposite the lift is a seat that has the part you

         12  actually sit on folds up creating a space and that's

         13  where the person in the wheelchair rides, and there

         14  are tie-downs.

         15                 Likewise, this virtually brand new

         16  boat has no tie-downs. Now, it is a rather light

         17  boat for its size and it bounces when it hits a wake

         18  from another vessel. On the trip that I took Sunday,

         19  it hit a wake, from a not very big vessel, a launch

         20  that's used to transport commercial vessel crews to

         21  their ships at anchor and back into shore, and it

         22  came fairly close to that vessel and when it hit the

         23  wake, the boat I was on dropped about two feet,

         24  quite quickly. It went down like an elevator, two

         25  feet. I saw that coming, it was no problem for me,
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          2  but if I was in a wheelchair, I really would not

          3  want to be strapped in at that moment. That's just

          4  the nature of these boats.

          5                 I should tell you that two weeks

          6  earlier than this past Sunday, I rode another boat

          7  on New York Waterways, quite beautiful, quite new,

          8  frontloaders of a different design, two decks

          9  instead of one, bigger capacity. It also lacked any

         10  spaces for wheelchairs, insofar as I could tell, any

         11  folding seats or removable seats, any tie-downs.

         12  Beautiful boat. Quite beautiful boat, and you could

         13  get on that one, it did line up with the dock at

         14  West 38th Street, but there are things on it once

         15  you're on that are not entirely accessible.

         16                 These are all frontloaders, every

         17  single one. The next picture is history, I'm happy

         18  to say, this is one of two stairways that the

         19  Department of Transportation put up on Pier 11 some

         20  time after September 11th, 2001, when they were

         21  increasing the capacity at Pier 11. They did two of

         22  these things actually, and I have not a clue as to

         23  what they had in mind.

         24                 In order to get to a gang plank to go

         25  down, they created a staircase that first went up.
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          2  You went up to go down. And I could see no reason

          3  for it, and fortunately, there wasn't any reason for

          4  it, this is now removed after vigorous protest by

          5  the disability community and Ms. Lopez.

          6                 Thank you for getting that out of

          7  there, but that is a fairly recent example of the

          8  City's lack of understanding of these issues, fairly

          9  stunning to me and it makes no sense.

         10                 Now in the same location you have

         11  what you should have, which is a gang plank that

         12  goes straight from the pier down to the float where

         13  you get on the boat. No up in order to go down. You

         14  just go down.

         15                 Next picture is from about a year

         16  ago, during the demonstration on Pier 11. It shows

         17  Alexander Wood who I believe is here confronting a

         18  type of gang plank which was used on Pier 11 to go

         19  from the thing you actually board from, which is

         20  called a float, and as you can see there is a step

         21  at the end of it.

         22                 I should say in fairness to Alexander

         23  being a rather Athletic guy, would probably be

         24  capable of getting over that step in his wheelchair,

         25  but not everybody could do that by a longway. Many
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          2  people, the chairs are too heavy or they don't have

          3  the physical strength to do that. That was I believe

          4  September the 12th of last year.

          5                 The next picture is the same gang

          6  plank, looking down the gang plank, so you can see

          7  where it really is. Again, September of last year.

          8                 The next picture was three weeks ago.

          9  On Pier 11, this is a gang plank that was there

         10  three weeks ago with a five inch, as you can see the

         11  photographer's assistant is holding a tape measure

         12  and it's a little bit more than five inches from the

         13  gang plank up to the -- from the deck up to the

         14  beginning of that gang plank. You couldn't get over

         15  that in a wheelchair. That gang plank is useless.

         16  It's a barrier, and it was there three weeks ago.

         17                 The next picture, again, goes back a

         18  year. This is on Pier 11, September of 2002. That

         19  gang plank, you can just tell by looking at it, is

         20  too narrow for a person in a wheelchair to get

         21  through. The railings are 27 inches apart. I

         22  measured them at that time. That's a year ago, okay?

         23                 The next picture, I'm now up to 11,

         24  is three weeks ago. We saw a boat unload using this

         25  same gang plank three weeks ago. And there you can

                                                            46

          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  see the tape measure actually showing you. It's hard

          3  to read it, but you can see the two foot mark over

          4  toward the right, and three inches beyond that is

          5  the width of the space between the rails, that's 27

          6  inch wide gang plank on Pier 11 three weeks ago.

          7                 The next picture. I'm going to change

          8  theme here a moment. This shows all these things are

          9  easily fixed. This is from January 15th of this

         10  year, a little while, a few months after New York

         11  Water Taxi got rolling. A number of us took a ride

         12  on January the 15th of this year, and that's

         13  Alexander getting off at their facility which I

         14  believe is 44th Street on the West Side.

         15                 You see what's happened here,

         16  although their boats usually do line up very well

         17  with the float from which you embark and disembark,

         18  at this stage of the tide, in this location, it

         19  didn't line up. And, so, what the crew did is they

         20  got out that folding ramp, which Mr. Fox made

         21  reference to, and the folks in wheelchairs rolled

         22  right up it, now there's Alexander about to do that.

         23  This is not rocket science. Tom Fox has basically

         24  shown us what I think is obvious, this all can be

         25  done.  It's pretty simple and it's not a big deal
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          2  and it's not real expensive.

          3                 Picture 13 is from 1995, it's one of

          4  New York Waterways fleet of inaccessible buses. It

          5  was obviously bought used at whatever time it was

          6  bought. It's not anything close to a new vehicle

          7  then, you can tell just from the design and the look

          8  of it. I don't know exactly when it was made, but

          9  it's not real current.

         10                 The last picture is from two weeks

         11  ago this Sunday. That's at West 38th Street. Same

         12  kind of bus.

         13                 Now, I just heard Mr. Johansen say

         14  that they had bought 15 new buses. I don't know

         15  where they are. I know that at least some operate in

         16  New Jersey but I have yet to see one in New York,

         17  and I pay attention to this, I have been to and past

         18  the West 38th Street facility where their buses

         19  congregate quite a number of times over the last

         20  number of months, partly to make these little

         21  explorations for these purposes, and partly because

         22  I go for walks on Sunday and I walk by there and I

         23  look when I walk by, and I have yet to see a new bus

         24  there. But typically I do see a line of these old

         25  ones, eight or ten of them, you know, lined up
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          2  waiting for their moment. And last Sunday I asked

          3  the driver, I thought you were getting some new

          4  buses, and his response was sarcastic, he didn't

          5  believe it was ever going to happen, but maybe he

          6  doesn't know what's in the pipeline, but if there

          7  are new buses, we're not seeing them in Manhattan,

          8  at least not very much. I have yet to see any.

          9                 I should tell you that on my way down

         10  here from my apartment this morning on Broadway, I

         11  passed one of these old buses in service, just a few

         12  minutes before I got here. So, I guess that goes to

         13  the point of what's going on here.

         14                 The City of New York, as Mr. Sweeting

         15  said, owns most of these landings. The City allows

         16  private firms to use them. The City can't get it

         17  right. The City hasn't come close to getting it

         18  right, even now after this bill has been here for a

         19  year, and even after eight years that the disability

         20  community has been raising the issues it's still not

         21  right, and these are simple things to fix, and they

         22  haven't been fixed, and the City is allowing at

         23  least one private operator to operate an

         24  inaccessible service from its facilities, and that's

         25  been going on since 1995 at least. And so I think

                                                            49

          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  that may go some to the point about grandfathering

          3  and a lot of other things.

          4                 I'm going to briefly speak to the

          5  notion that this legislation unfairly singles out

          6  the one part of the transportation industry. I must

          7  say I don't think that's so. The other parts of the

          8  transportation industry, for example, buses and

          9  subways has had specific rules in place for a number

         10  of years, and they have over time come into

         11  compliance or at least partial compliance with those

         12  rules. Very specific rules, for example, that led to

         13  the introduction of lift equipped buses. The entire

         14  New York City public bus fleet is now lift equipped.

         15  It took a number of years to get there, but that's

         16  as a result of the fact that it is regulated, and

         17  specific rules have been in place, and over time

         18  they've made it possible for people who use

         19  wheelchairs to get around the City. Slowly, like

         20  buses do, but they can get around the City.

         21                 That's also the illustration of

         22  regulation of a public part of the transportation

         23  system as opposed to private. So, I don't think this

         24  legislation is unfairly singling the private

         25  industry.
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          2                 I also must point out that I lived on

          3  Staten Island from 1981 until 1993, and during that

          4  time I commuted daily to Manhattan on Staten

          5  Island's ferry, as did a number of wheelchair users.

          6  And they could roll onto the boats. The newer boats

          7  were designed in a way that they really don't

          8  present any rolling problem. The older ones had that

          9  kind of combing or lip at some of the doorways, but

         10  they fixed that in a very simple way, they made a

         11  little ramp on either side. And typically when I

         12  went home at night, I would be on the same boat as

         13  the fellow who used the manual wheelchair and he

         14  used to just whiz right over that thing. He, like

         15  me, liked to be at the front of the line when the

         16  doors opened to get on the boat, and I would see him

         17  do that.

         18                 The public ferry system, to put it

         19  squarely, has been pretty accessible all the time

         20  that I have known it. The bathrooms on the older

         21  boats were a problem, but the boats were

         22  fundamentally and are still fundamentally

         23  accessible.

         24                 Perhaps I should address the question

         25  of preemption, if you want me to. The ADA clearly
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          2  intends that there be standards for vessels on the

          3  accessibility of vessels of this type and on their

          4  safety for people with disabilities. And I'm not

          5  just saying that, the draft specifications from the

          6  access board for which we had been waiting for years

          7  to see the final, the draft specifications go to

          8  both of those things, they go to vessel design for

          9  access and for safety for people with disabilities,

         10  which in some respects this bill does.

         11                 The ADA clearly contemplates that it

         12  covers vessels of this type as to their access and

         13  their safety, and the ADA very specifically says

         14  that it does not preempt local laws which are more

         15  protective of the rights of people with

         16  disabilities. It says that in that many words.

         17  Nothing herein shall be construed, so as to

         18  invalidate any state or local law that is more

         19  protective. That is in Section 12201(b).

         20                 There is another reason that applies

         21  in both common sense and in law as to why this is

         22  not preempted; and that is, that New York City is

         23  somewhat unique. As Mr. Liu said, we're not

         24  physically laid out like other cities. We are

         25  intersected over and over again by waterways, and
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          2  not only that, but places where people live are very

          3  often separated by water from the places where large

          4  number of people work. So, you have commuting

          5  patterns in this City that bring literally millions

          6  of people every day across water, and that is a

          7  fairly unique situation. I believe the number of

          8  people who come into Manhattan every day to work is

          9  something in the neighborhood of 4 million. So, this

         10  is not like Seattle where there is a ferry service

         11  and a few people, you know, live on the other side

         12  of Puget Sound, but not very many. Here we have

         13  Brooklyn, Manhattan, a big employment center, and we

         14  have New Jersey opposite Manhattan, a big employment

         15  center, this City is different. And in a case like

         16  that the Supreme Court recognizes that a locality

         17  has a special interest in pursuing its own unique

         18  interests by regulating subjects, even if they

         19  aren't covered by federal regulations.

         20                 The problem and the reason we're here

         21  is that while we're building the system the feds

         22  have not come forward with their specifications

         23  beyond a draft, and I don't know how many years it

         24  will be until they do, but our ferry system is

         25  building now and we need this bill now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Gresham.

          4                 At this point I would like to ask the

          5  Council Member from Queens to introduce herself and

          6  to tell her what is the district that she

          7  represents.

          8                 Council Member Helen.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm Helen

         10  Sears, and I'm from Queens, the 25th District, and I

         11  represent Jackson Heights, Corona, East Elmhurst, a

         12  little bit of Woodside, Regal Park. And in the

         13  redistricting I will still have most of that so I'm

         14  pleased about it.

         15                 If I may just make one comment?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, Council

         17  member.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: For the points

         19  that were basically made, New York City has a very

         20  major responsibility to see that the wrongs are

         21  corrected, and as I was sitting here listening to

         22  the testimony, and I've been to several of these

         23  hearings, I thank both chairs for really doing this,

         24  we must keep in mind that although people are in

         25  wheelchairs and their legs are not functioning as

                                                            54

          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  they once served them, they don't have a disability

          3  of their intellect and they don't have a disability

          4  of their perseverance or their determination, and

          5  they don't have a disability with their energy,

          6  which means that they are extremely vital, vital

          7  contributors to the society of the City of New York,

          8  and it behooves us to do everything we can to see

          9  that we can have and take part in all that they have

         10  to offer.

         11                 As I look at these pictures, it's

         12  amazing, I have to say quite frankly, since we are

         13  obliged to deal with the Americans Act of Disability

         14  that we are allowing, quite frankly, to have this in

         15  service.

         16                 They always say a picture is 1,000

         17  words, and I have been on ferries and I can stand on

         18  my feet, and it certainly makes me nervous just to

         19  look at that, that I, not being in a wheelchair,

         20  could deal with that.

         21                 So, I commend you and I think we have

         22  to do everything we can to see that this film

         23  somehow reaches the Council floor.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, Council

         25  member. We're going to call the next set of
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          2  witnesses. Thank you.

          3                 Oh, at this moment the Committee is

          4  going to read the letter from the Access Board that

          5  was sent to us in regard of the issue of preemption,

          6  and we would like to read this letter to be put on

          7  the record at this moment.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Councilwoman, let me

          9  also just recognize that we've been joined by

         10  Council Member Vincent Gentile from Brooklyn, and we

         11  had been joined earlier by Council Member Oliver

         12  Koppell from the Bronx.

         13                 MS. GONZALEZ: This is a letter dated

         14  September 26th, 2003, from the United States Access

         15  Board.

         16                 "Thank you for sending us the

         17  proposed legislation on access for people with

         18  disabilities to New York City's passenger ferry

         19  system.

         20                 As you know, the Access Board is in

         21  the process of developing accessibility requirements

         22  for passenger vessels, including ferries. Although

         23  we cannot attend the upcoming hearing on the

         24  proposed legislation, I want to respond to three

         25  questions that may help you in your legislative
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          2  considerations.

          3                 These include:

          4                 1st) What is the process for

          5  developing passenger vessel guidelines.

          6                 2nd) What is the time frame for

          7  completion of these guidelines; and

          8                 3rd) How would the new requirements

          9  apply to existing facilities?

         10                 The Access Board is an Independent

         11  Federal Agency committed to accessible design for

         12  persons with disabilities.

         13                 Created in 1973 to ensure access to

         14  federally funded facilities, the Board is now a

         15  leading source of information on accessible design

         16  through its development of guidelines and standards.

         17  It operates with about 30 staff and a governing

         18  board of representatives from federal departments

         19  and public members appointed by the President.

         20                 The Board develops and maintains

         21  accessibility guidelines and standards for the built

         22  environment transportation vehicles, electronic and

         23  information technology and telecommunications.

         24                 These design requirements are used to

         25  enforce several different laws, including the
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          2  landmark Americans With Disabilities Act.

          3                 What is the process for developing

          4  passenger vessel guidelines? When guidelines for

          5  transit vehicles originally issued under the ADA,

          6  the Board and the Department of Transportation

          7  decided that further study was needed before

          8  guidelines could be developed for passenger vessels.

          9                 The agency sponsored a study that

         10  examined the impact of access to vessels and shore

         11  facilities. This project was completed in July 1996

         12  and provided valuable information for rule-making.

         13                 In August 1998, the Board created a

         14  passenger vessel access advisory committee to

         15  provide recommendations for a proposed rule

         16  addressing accessibility guidelines for newly

         17  constructed and altered passenger vessels covered by

         18  the ADA.

         19                 This Committee explored ways to

         20  achieve access in view of various design

         21  considerations and made recommendations that the

         22  Board will use in proposing guidelines. Identifying

         23  the types of vessels to be addressed was also part

         24  of the Committee's mission. A wide variety of

         25  vessels were taken into consideration from those
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          2  used primarily for transportation such as ferries to

          3  those used for recreation or other purposes, such as

          4  gaming boats, cruise ships and sightseeing boats.

          5                 The Committee was composed of 21

          6  members who represented owners and operators of

          7  various passenger vessels. Designers of passenger

          8  vessels and organizations representing individuals

          9  with disabilities.

         10                 The Committee met extensively over a

         11  two-year period and provided its recommendations in

         12  the form of a report presented to the Board at a

         13  meeting in Miami Beach, Florida, on November 17th,

         14  2000.

         15                 The Board will propose guidelines

         16  based on the advisory committee's report and publish

         17  the proposed guidelines in the federal register.

         18                 What is the time frame for completion

         19  of the guidelines? The Board has not yet issued a

         20  proposed rule on access to passenger vessels.

         21                 An ad hoc group of board members is

         22  reviewing the Passenger Vessel Access Advisory

         23  Committee's Report in depth to craft a set of

         24  proposed guidelines based on the Committee's

         25  recommendations.
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          2                 The proposed rule will provide an

          3  opportunity for public comment on the guidelines.

          4                 The Board will then proceed to

          5  finalize the guidelines based on public comments

          6  received in response to the proposed rule.

          7                 At the proposed and final rule stage,

          8  we must also issue a regulatory assessment. We have

          9  found that this process from proposed rule to final

         10  rule can take about two years or more to complete.

         11                 The Board's guidelines serve as the

         12  basis for enforceable standards maintained by other

         13  agencies under the ADA.

         14                 The Department of Justice and

         15  Department of Transportation maintain standards

         16  based on the Board's guidelines that apply to

         17  facilities covered by the ADA. These enforceable

         18  standards must be consistent with the Board's

         19  guidelines.

         20                 How will the new requirements apply

         21  to existing facilities? ADAAG was developed for new

         22  construction and alterations. Existing facilities

         23  not otherwise being altered are subject to

         24  requirements specified in the DOJ or DOT

         25  regulations, not the Board's guidelines.
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          2                 Title 2 entities must achieve program

          3  accessibility. Title 3 entities, private sector,

          4  places of public accommodation must pursue barrier

          5  removal or alternatives in existing places of public

          6  accommodation.

          7                 Broadly viewed, ADA implementing

          8  regulations outline a hierarchy of obligations. New

          9  construction must be fully accessible in compliance

         10  with applicable provisions of ADAAG. Alterations

         11  must approve ADAAG new construction criteria where

         12  technically feasible.

         13                 Less stringent technical

         14  specifications may be applied where technical

         15  infeasibility is encountered. Alterations to primary

         16  function areas carry an additional obligation to

         17  improve of path of travel to the altered area.

         18                 3rd) Existing facilities must achieve

         19  a level of usability that balances user needs, the

         20  constraints of existing conditions and the resources

         21  available for remedial work.

         22                 Thus, the highest degree of

         23  accessibility is expected in new work, when the cost

         24  of providing accessible features is nominal compared

         25  to the overall cost of construction.
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          2                 Alterations and additions constrained

          3  by work already in place may default to an

          4  intermediate standard when structural and site

          5  conditions prohibit full accessibility.

          6                 Existing facilities must do the best

          7  they can with what they have. A flexibility that

          8  permits needs to be balanced against available

          9  resources.

         10                 Again, these requirements for

         11  remedial action in existing facilities are contained

         12  in the DOG or DOT implementing regulations. There is

         13  no expectation under the ADA that existing

         14  facilities be improved to fully meet the scoping and

         15  technical standards set in ADAAG. In general, where

         16  the barrier removal or program accessibility

         17  measures involve construction, ADAAG, or the uniform

         18  federal accessibility standards, if elected by title

         19  2 entities, technical standards for alterations will

         20  apply.

         21                 However, neither ADAAG nor UFAS

         22  contain scoping for accessibility measures taken to

         23  comply with barrier removal or program accessibility

         24  requirements in existing facilities.

         25                 I hope that this information helps in
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          2  your legislative considerations as you develop a

          3  bill for access for people with disabilities to New

          4  York City's passenger ferry system.

          5                 If you have further questions, please

          6  contact our staff."

          7                 Signed, David Capozzi, Director,

          8  Technical Information Services for the Access Board.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: At this point

         10  Council Member Dilan and Council Member Brewer, can

         11  you introduce yourselves, please?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 Council Member Erik Martin Dilan,

         15  City Council member, Brooklyn.

         16                 Madam Chair, please accept my

         17  tardiness as no sign of disrespect. I was conducting

         18  my own hearing across the street at 250 Broadway,

         19  and I'm sorry for my tardiness.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Gale Brewer,

         21  West Side of Manhattan. I'm always late. Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Can you please

         24  proceed to call the next set of witnesses?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair. I'm City Councilman Jim Gennaro from

          3  the 24th District. I was out looking for Gale.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I didn't realize

          5  that you were there, Jim. I'm sorry.

          6                 MS. GONZALEZ: Mr. Alexander Wood.

          7  Gerard Pettite and Thomas Small.

          8                 Do you all swear or affirm that the

          9  testimony you will provide here today will be

         10  truthful in all respects?

         11                 MR. SMALL: Yes.

         12                 MR. PETTITE: I do.

         13                 MR. WOOD: I do.

         14                 MS. GONZALEZ: Thank you. Will you

         15  please each state your name for the record and

         16  affiliation.

         17                 MR. PETTITE: I'm Gerard M. Pettite,

         18  from the Joint Public Affairs Committee of Older

         19  Persons, better known as JPAC.

         20                 MR. WOOD: I'm Alexander Wood. I

         21  represent the Disabilities Network.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I think it's not

         23  on.

         24                 MR. WOOD: I'm Alexander Wood. I

         25  represent the Disabilities Network of New York City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Do you need

          3  assistance with this microphone to be hold closer to

          4  you (sic)?

          5                 MR. SMALL: Alexander can help me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We will put a

          7  system for you. There's a reason why we passed the

          8  ADA laws.

          9                 MR. SMALL: Thomas K. Small.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Just one minute.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 MR. SMALL: Thomas K. Small. I'm an

         13  attorney in private practice and I work for the New

         14  York State Independent Living Council.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You can pull the

         16  microphone toward you.

         17                 MR. PETTITE: All right. Good morning,

         18  folks. Ms. Lopez, Mr. Liu, other Council and

         19  Committee members, assembled guests and dignataries.

         20  My name is Gerard M. Pettite. As I said, I'm a

         21  member of the Joint Public Affairs Committee for

         22  Older Adults, better known as JPAC. We have come in

         23  full circle in recognizing that ferry service, which

         24  was once an important part of New York City

         25  transportation is again a necessary and viable

                                                            65

          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  entity in New York.

          3                 The ferry is the most pleasant and

          4  efficient way to travel and may help to alleviate

          5  some stress, as well as to ease some of the traffic

          6  congestion that would exist without it. They can

          7  move us from borough-to-borough in a very timely

          8  manner.

          9                 We're experiencing an elder boom

         10  population. As we grow older, we're not as agile as

         11  we used to be. We become more frail and sometimes

         12  disabled. There is also younger population that is

         13  disabled and more visible.

         14                 The Americans for Disability Act has

         15  allowed more disabled people to enter the workforce

         16  or get involved in other activities. There are also

         17  motorized wheelchairs and other devices that provide

         18  the disabled with more mobility.

         19                 Because elderly and disabled people

         20  go to work, go to school, are politically and

         21  community active, enjoy cultural activities and go

         22  shopping, they contribute to the vitality and

         23  economy of New York.

         24                 Ferry service helps to ensure that

         25  the elderly and disabled community can further enjoy
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          2  and participate all mainstream activities. However,

          3  unless such legislation such as the Accessible

          4  Public Passenger Ferry Services Transportation Act,

          5  Intro. 261, is passed, the elderly and disabled are

          6  left out and deprived of the advantages of ferry

          7  services.

          8                 For many the subways are becoming

          9  difficult to use, mainly because of the stairs.

         10  Boarding a bus is becoming difficult, even when the

         11  bus kneels, people with canes who have difficulty

         12  walking because of pains in the joints have a

         13  problem negotiating those steps. The ferry would be

         14  of a great help to many because it would allow them

         15  to travel from borough to borough without having to

         16  make various bus changes to do it.

         17                 Therefore, it is important that

         18  standards as put forth in Intro. 261 require

         19  accessible piers, docks, ferry and waterborne

         20  transportation services for the elderly and the

         21  impaired.

         22                 Walking services should be nonslip.

         23  They should always be properly maintained and kept

         24  dry and clear of snow. We must address doors and

         25  doorways. Door hardware. For those of you in
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          2  wheelchairs know how hard it is to try and currently

          3  round knob versus the L-shaped knob on the door in

          4  order to negotiate a door.

          5                 Ramps with rails, and these ramps

          6  have to be edge protected in order to prevent a

          7  chair wheel, cain or crutch from slipping at the

          8  edge.

          9                 This would also be beneficial to the

         10  visually impaired and people with seeing eye guide

         11  dogs. Waterborne vessels should have transitioned

         12  plates and/or ramps to provide easy access to inner

         13  cabins and under cover.

         14                 These vessels must have a trained

         15  crew member available at all times to assist those

         16  requiring help in the event of an emergency,

         17  especially if evacuation is needed, in addition to

         18  having an evacuation chair available in such a

         19  situation.

         20                 These standards would be certainly

         21  advantageous to everyone with or without

         22  disabilities.

         23                 This legislation considers not just

         24  today, it is forward-looking, because we must think

         25  and look into the future.
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          2                 Proper design and proper maintenance

          3  will make for a great service to be enjoyed by all,

          4  young and old.

          5                 This is for the cause of a civilized

          6  and caring New York society. It shows respect.

          7                 None of us knows what the future

          8  holds or how we'll even feel when we get up in the

          9  morning. This affects you, me, our loved ones,

         10  family, friends, fellow New Yorkers and tourists.

         11                 So I am asking then to please vote

         12  for Intro. 261, the Accessible Passenger Ferry

         13  Service Transportation Act. It's the right thing to

         14  do. I thank you.

         15                 MR. WOOD: Good morning. My name is

         16  Alexander Wood, and I'm Executive Director at the

         17  Disabilities Network of New York City.

         18                 The Disabilities Network is a

         19  two-year-old nonpartisan New York-based organization

         20  that promotes full participation of New Yorkers with

         21  disabilities through involvement in the public

         22  policy-making process and community education.

         23                 We submit this testimony to state our

         24  support for systemic changes in New York City's

         25  transportation infrastructure that have encouraged
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          2  the growth since 2001 of a greatly expanded

          3  waterborne transportation system, and we want to

          4  encourage any move to make the system more

          5  accessible to riders with disabilities.

          6                 Although ferry operators have been

          7  operating in New York City for well over ten years,

          8  the ferries, piers and shuttle buses bringing

          9  passengers to the system have been largely

         10  inaccessible.

         11                 We believe that despite the

         12  provisions in the Americans With Disabilities Act

         13  and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,

         14  mandating that any program receiving federal monies

         15  be accessible to people with disabilities, there has

         16  never been any enforcement in New York City of the

         17  laws on the books.

         18                 The network has presented testimony

         19  at prior Council hearings on accessible ferries.

         20  Most recently last March, well I wrote in my

         21  testimony last March, but it must have been in

         22  February, we supported the proposal for accessible

         23  ferries, because if New York City passes a local law

         24  regulating waterborne commuter vessels, we will be

         25  leading the way toward establishing access
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          2  guidelines in America.

          3                 In the course of the past few years,

          4  working in partnership with Disabled In Action,

          5  Eastern Paralyzed Veterans Association, 504

          6  Democratic Club, New York Lawyers for the Public

          7  Interest and other Network members, as well as our

          8  champion in the City Council, the honorable

          9  Margarita Lopez and her staff, we have had numerous

         10  meetings with New York Waterway, New York City Water

         11  Taxi, New York City Department of Transportation,

         12  the New York City Economic Development Corporation

         13  and the Architects of Pier 79 at 38th Street and the

         14  West Side Highway. Forward motion is happening as a

         15  result of all of these meetings and it's been

         16  brought about by this pending legislation.

         17                 A new terminal is being built at Pier

         18  79, and according to the planners and designers,

         19  accessible gangways will be put in place so that

         20  ingress and egress to the vessel is fully ramped,

         21  and universal designs principles are being

         22  implemented in the planning stages.

         23                 Pier 11 has been renovated and the

         24  inaccessible slip C on the northeast corner of the

         25  pier is no longer there, that's the one that John
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          2  Gresham described where you had to go up to go down,

          3  making no sense at all.

          4                 New shuttle buses were ordered last

          5  year, and now a fleet of 51 buses has -- no,

          6  actually it's 81 buses, 15 equipped with wheelchair

          7  lifts, although I have rarely seen these on the

          8  road, and one would think that you had a one in four

          9  chance of seeing one, I did see that three out of

         10  the 15 shuttle buses at Pier 78 or parked on 39th

         11  Street yesterday were lift equipped, so that's about

         12  20 percent.

         13                 This proposed legislation has had

         14  positive impact already, as I stated, in getting the

         15  operators who ply the waters of New York harbor to

         16  work on improving the accessibility of their

         17  services and facilities, in getting advisors from

         18  the disability community to the table in the

         19  planning stages, and Eastern Paralyzed Veterans

         20  Association has trained the drivers of the

         21  accessible shuttle buses at New York Waterway and

         22  created a training video that can be used to train

         23  new employees regarding access issues when they are

         24  hired in the future.

         25                 The network's main objective is to
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          2  increase participation of people with disabilities

          3  in the mainstream life of New York City.

          4                 As we all know, New York City has

          5  been chosen to represent America as the host city

          6  for the 2012 Olympics.  In a recent meeting with New

          7  York City 2012 organizers and Matthew Sapolin, the

          8  Director of the Mayor's Office for People With

          9  Disabilities, last winter of the Achilles Track Club

         10  and I brought up the importance of ensuring that the

         11  waterborne transportation system be accessible so

         12  that this important transportation mode can be used

         13  by all the visitors and athletes, disabled or

         14  non-disabled, who participate in the 2012 Olympics

         15  and in the paraOlympic games that follow shortly

         16  after.

         17                 Most New Yorkers exercise great

         18  choice in how they travel around the City, but for

         19  people with disabilities the options are limited.

         20                 Less than 40 of the more than 460

         21  subway stations are accessible to wheelchair users.

         22  Only five yellow cabs in a City with 12,187

         23  medallion taxis are wheelchair accessible. The

         24  private bus lines that operate in neighboring

         25  boroughs, subcontracted by DOT or the MTA, I'm not
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          2  sure which, routinely neglect to pick up mobility

          3  impaired customers, and as we all know,

          4  Access-A-Ride, despite the claims of the paratransit

          5  division, to the contrary continue to have an

          6  unbelievable number of no shows and customer

          7  complaints about core service delivery.

          8                 It is time, therefore, for the City

          9  Council to take this opportunity to ensure that past

         10  wrongs are righted, that if companies are going to

         11  be awarded contracts to use City-owned piers and

         12  transport commuters to and from work and travelers

         13  to and from the sporting venues of the Olympics that

         14  will be held in New York City, they must comply with

         15  the laws that are on the books, local, this one and

         16  others, like the New York City Human Rights law,

         17  state, New York State Human Rights laws, and

         18  federal, Section 504 and the ADA. Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MR. SMALL: Good morning, Chairwoman

         21  Lopez. Thank you for the opportunity to present

         22  testimony. I thank the rest of the Committee. I

         23  think I just learned something very important about

         24  giving public testimony, don't go after Alexander

         25  Wood, because he basically stole a lot of my basic

                                                            74

          1  MENTAL HEALTH AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  points.

          3                 But I want to put this into a little

          4  bit of context, historical and economic and civil

          5  rights. As an attorney I have proudly been accused

          6  of making things more complicated than they really

          7  need to be, but this is not one of those situations.

          8  This is about basic civil rights, and it's not that

          9  high to come into compliance with not only the

         10  letter of the law but the spirit of the law. It's

         11  not that difficult to build a ramp, it's not that

         12  difficult to remove the co-links that John Grisham

         13  was talking about.

         14                 I grew up in a nautical family. My

         15  father had a boat. I spent every weekend of my

         16  childhood out in Mill Basin at a boat yard where my

         17  father kept his boats and I'm still friends with the

         18  boat yard that works on many of the boats that are

         19  owned by New York Waterway and the water taxis. So,

         20  I know from a technical point of view, not from a

         21  technical point of view but from a practical point

         22  of view, these instructions are not that hard to

         23  remove.

         24                 On the historical level, the main

         25  infrastructure of the City's transportation system
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          2  is the subway system. It was built 100 years ago.

          3  We're still living with the basic designs of a

          4  system that was built 100 years ago. Our waterways

          5  are being developed as they practically have never

          6  been before. The Mayor has made it practically a

          7  number one economic development issue to take this

          8  valuable resource, which is the waterfront and make

          9  it usable. Let's make it usable for us now, but

         10  let's make it usable for people 50 years, 100 years,

         11  150 years. New York City isn't going to go anywhere.

         12  If we do it right now, it's much cheaper than doing

         13  it right 50 years from now. I think that the City

         14  has a great opportunity to do something right at the

         15  ground level and work its way up.

         16                 And economically, I live in downtown

         17  Brooklyn. I live on the 16th floor. I look straight

         18  out at Lower Manhattan. One of the things I also

         19  look at is Governor's Island. There's going to be a

         20  City campus for the community college built on

         21  Governor's Island probably. There probably will also

         22  be some convention activities. That means that

         23  people with disabilities will have business on

         24  Governor's Island. The only way to get there, as far

         25  as I know, is on a boat.
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          2                 Unless they build a bridge, but I

          3  don't think that's going to happen either. The water

          4  system needs to be available to get people to and

          5  from Governor's Island, and that means completely

          6  from the ground up.

          7                 I endorse Intro. 261, and I would say

          8  that the Council has done a great job in recognizing

          9  the needs of people with disabilities.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, to the

         12  three members of the panel. Are there any questions

         13  from the Council members?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, Council

         16  Member Brewer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: A very quick

         18  question, which is that we are talking specifically

         19  about the gangway, the dock, the boat and so on, are

         20  there any impediments as to getting to the dock? I

         21  know that, for instance, as to my neighborhood on

         22  the West Side Riverside Park South has the ramp that

         23  is ADA accessible, although I think it's

         24  questionable sometimes as to whether that's true or

         25  not. There is a Riverside Park ramp which is not
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          2  accessible.

          3                 So, my question is, are there other

          4  locations there?  Just getting to the boat itself

          5  could be a challenge even before one gets to the

          6  dock.

          7                 MR. WOOD: Yes, I've heard that up by

          8  Gracie Mansion there's a ferry route that takes

          9  people from 90th Street down the East River and that

         10  you have to, to get to the landing you have to go

         11  from the street, up steps, or you have an alternate

         12  route that takes you like a quarter of a mile. And,

         13  so, if there's any way to ramp that better and work

         14  with New York City Parks Department, that would be

         15  good. And I'm sure there's other instances like

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much, Madam Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Just for the

         20  benefit of the members of the Committee, in that

         21  particular issue we have been looking into that

         22  problem and how to resolve it, because to begin with

         23  the Park Department should not have that particular

         24  situation where people with disabilities cannot

         25  maneuver inside of the park, and I have to say, I
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          2  have been meeting with the Park Department and they

          3  have been extremely willing to cooperate in

          4  resolving these barriers and work forward in making

          5  sure that all parks are wheelchair accessible.

          6                 Saying that, I just want to ask the

          7  question to Mr. Pettite.

          8                 You saw these photos that was

          9  presented by Mr. Gresham about the New York Water

         10  buses, or you had not seen it?

         11                 MR. PETTITE: No, this is the first

         12  time I'm seeing it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, I'm going to

         14  ask you to get it. I'm going to ask the

         15  Sergeant-Of-Arm to get it, to show it to him

         16  closely. I just want a comment from you about that.

         17                 The buses that you see in there, you

         18  right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How difficult for

         20  a senior who have problems and difficulties walking

         21  would be to maneuver the stairs?

         22                 MR. PETTITE: I would say it would be

         23  quite difficult, because I have seen in the past

         24  even with the buses that kneel, and I'm not sure if

         25  this one kneels or not, I find that people just
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          2  trying to climb up the stairs at times have a quite

          3  difficult time doing it, maybe because of painful

          4  joints or not, so, it's something -- or someone with

          5  crutches sometimes getting up and down those steps

          6  can be very difficult.

          7                 So, looking at this, it looks like

          8  this to me would be a very cumbersome way of getting

          9  in and out for somebody who has leg problems that

         10  are trying to walk up and down the stairs. In a

         11  wheelchair I don't see, unless the back steps fold

         12  in, and I can't tell in this picture whether this

         13  model does or not.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No, these buses

         15  are not wheelchair accessible. I just want to know

         16  if they are accessible to people who are mobile, but

         17  have some relative problems with their joints and

         18  problems with walking?

         19                 MR. PETTITE: Well, I would say this,

         20  while it would be accessible, it is still painful

         21  negotiating the steps from somebody who might have

         22  say arthritic joints and that sort of thing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then it will be

         24  difficult for you?

         25                 MR. PETTITE: Not for me personally,
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          2  because I'm used to, my left leg is arthritic, but

          3  I'm used to pulling my weight up on my right leg and

          4  just going up gradually anyway. But I've seen others

          5  with a lot worse problems than I have getting up and

          6  down those steps.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then what you are

          8  telling me is that you are not a whiner because if

          9  you have a problem with one of the legs, you do have

         10  a problem going up. Not that this is not difficult

         11  for you, it is difficult, and you don't want to

         12  complain, but it is difficult, and I understand

         13  that, because we don't want people to understand

         14  some time that we are difficult, but if you have

         15  problems with one leg, this will be difficult, and

         16  there's not a need for you to be put through a

         17  situation like this when you can have the technology

         18  to do this position, because to date we have the

         19  buses and don't need to have that kind of steps,

         20  correct?

         21                 MR. PETTITE: Well, okay, for me, as I

         22  said, it doesn't matter so much. In the other case

         23  is my wife who walks with two crutches and wears a

         24  brace to get in and out, it's a lot more difficult.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank you. I
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          2  just wanted to hear your comment in terms of that.

          3                 Council Member Sears.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Madam Chair, my

          5  question is really for both Committee chairs.

          6                 Since the objective of our

          7  committees, these two committees, is really ADA

          8  compliance and to economically develop the

          9  waterfront, which is so essential not only to this

         10  City but actually worldwide, where are we with any

         11  kind of federal funding, whether to the City of New

         12  York, to be in compliance? And also for the private

         13  sector, if there's monies available for them.

         14  Because if we have no idea, it may be strange in

         15  testifying in Washington to really and truly

         16  advocate for those dollars.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I'm planning to go

         18  there in the near future, because not so much due to

         19  the question of dollars being allocated here, but I

         20  am flabberghasted about the violation of the laws

         21  that are supposed to be enforced today for people

         22  with disabilities by the City, by the State, and

         23  particularly when the City and the State are

         24  receiving federal dollars, they are getting those

         25  dollars, a condition is attached to it, that they
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          2  have to comply with the ADA, they take the dollars

          3  and they violate the law, and the federal government

          4  is not even aware of it.

          5                 Case in point is the piers. The piers

          6  is not supposed to be built in the way that they

          7  were, speaking specifically about Pier 11. They're

          8  supposed to be wheelchair accessible, and they were

          9  in violation one after another, and they took the

         10  money, the federal dollars, and those federal

         11  dollars have conditions attached to it. Then one

         12  thing is the question of getting monies in here, but

         13  another question is why the City take the money, fly

         14  with it, claim that they're going to be serving the

         15  people with disabilities, and then they don't, but

         16  they take the money and they benefit from economic

         17  development.

         18                 That's one aspect, and I want to

         19  invite all of the members of the Committee to go to

         20  Washington and testify on this item, and I will be

         21  more than glad to let you know when these issues are

         22  up for consideration.

         23                 One more thing I want to make the

         24  Committee aware, on the hearings that we have about

         25  the Veteran Administration Hospital being closed on
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          2  23rd Street. We learned that the veterans from

          3  Staten Island take the ferry to come to the 23rd

          4  Street Veteran Hospital because it's better, more

          5  convenient and easy access for them. Why? Because

          6  the transportation that they need doesn't exist

          7  inland to go to the Veteran Hospital closer to them,

          8  but it exists in the ferry system that is wheelchair

          9  accessible, and when they arrive to Manhattan, they

         10  can navigate the system on the wheelchair accessible

         11  buses to get to 23rd Street.

         12                 Then if these are the things that we

         13  are discovering as we're listening to the hearing

         14  issues, and I want the members to be aware of this,

         15  that this Act is critical for the future of New York

         16  City and for the humanity that we should begin

         17  showing, not just based on the ADA laws that were

         18  passed in this country.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I agree. Thank

         20  you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You're welcome.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because I think

         23  we should all support the effort that has to be

         24  made.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you to all
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          2  of you for testifying one more time on this issue.

          3  As you see, we're trying to give every opportunity

          4  to everyone to comment on the versions that are

          5  being fixed in order to put this bill finally for a

          6  vote.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MS. GONZALEZ: Our final witness,

          9  Connie Brady.

         10                 Is Edith Prentiss here? Edith

         11  Prentiss?

         12                 Ms. Brady, can you raise your right

         13  hand, please?

         14                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         15  testimony you will provide here today will be

         16  truthful in all respects?

         17                 MS. BRADY: Yes.

         18                 MS. GONZALEZ: Thank you. Please

         19  identify yourself and your affiliation for the

         20  record.

         21                 MS. BRADY: My name is Connie Brady,

         22  and I belong to DIA, Disabled In Action.

         23                 I have lived here in this City for

         24  about 35 years, and I'm looking for very much to

         25  going to the Olympics. There's many things that I
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          2  want to see, and I figure I've been paying taxes all

          3  these 35 years, so access should be, it should be

          4  natural. It's not as we know, but I can't believe

          5  I've been paying taxes all these years and I want to

          6  get some place and there has to be a way for me to

          7  get there, and I thank everybody on the Committee

          8  for all the work that you've done because I now go

          9  all over Manhattan on the buses, they go every

         10  place, I've gotten used to them, so I thank you very

         11  much for making that possible.

         12                 And I would also like to say to the

         13  Committee, that I don't know how other people feel,

         14  but I prefer the old buses, when you get on the

         15  back, the new double buses that they have I don't

         16  like at all. You get on the front and you have to go

         17  over people's feet, be careful not to go over

         18  people's feet, and then turn around to get out. It's

         19  a whole lot of work, the driver still has to get up,

         20  and that walk is farther, still has to get it.

         21                 So, Committee members I prefer the

         22  old buses, if you ever have a vote on this I will go

         23  and testify about them. In fact, I would like to go

         24  to Washington, D.C. to speak up at that point. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 MS. GONZALEZ: Some written testimony

          5  was submitted, but the person who submitted it is

          6  not here, so I'll just read it into the record for

          7  everyone's benefit.

          8                 Hello, I am Edith Prentiss. I am

          9  President of the Manhattan BoroughWide InterAgency

         10  Council on Aging, a member of Disabled in Action and

         11  the Disability Network of New York City.

         12                 I would like to take this opportunity

         13  to both Committee Chairs for allowing me to offer my

         14  issues and concerns on Accessible Water Borne

         15  Commuter Services Facilities Transportation Act, or

         16  as we all know it, the Ferry Bill, which will open a

         17  new means of transportation and recreation to

         18  disabled New Yorkers, assuming that all services

         19  will come on line as they are constructed rather

         20  than the situation in the subways which are slowly

         21  and selectively retrofitted.

         22                 As a former Long and Staten Islander,

         23  ferries are a fond memory. Commuting on a Staten

         24  Island ferry certainly is an improvement over the A

         25  Train.
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          2                 As a disabled New Yorker, one who

          3  unfortunately lives in the far reach of Northern

          4  Manhattan, strongly supports the Ferry Access Bill

          5  with only one concern. Who pray tell, will be

          6  responsible for repairs and maintenance of the

          7  equipment? I ask this in all sincerity. As any mass

          8  transit wheelchair user will tell you, the MTA's or

          9  their contractors', excluding the suburban rail

         10  services, inability to maintain and repair equipment

         11  second to the weather in the daily ardors of our

         12  transit lives.

         13                 Before leaving my apartment this

         14  morning, knowing the 14th Street and 8th Avenue

         15  Street elevator was out of service, yesterday when I

         16  was rushing from a meeting at Cooper Square up to

         17  Fort George Hill, I called the MTA's Elevator and

         18  Escalator line to try and figure out how I was going

         19  to travel from Washington Heights to the Chambers

         20  this morning. Today, not just is the 14th Street and

         21  8th Avenue but the City Hall elevator is out as

         22  well. The true irony is that the tape continues to

         23  report the 125th and Lexington repairs will be

         24  completed this summer.

         25                 Well, today is October 1st, and
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          2  Summer began in mid-September. When can we expect

          3  that repairs to be completed? Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: With this last

          5  testimony we're going to complete the hearing of

          6  today, and we're concluding the hearing in a sad

          7  note, obviously, with the last testimony, because we

          8  continue to see that the issues of accessibility is

          9  not part of the real commitment that our society

         10  make in paper, but in reality in action, is lacking.

         11                 We invited the Administration to

         12  testify here today, they chose not to testify, they

         13  were present during the hearing and we appreciate

         14  that. We are awaiting the comments on the bill that

         15  is being put forward. We are going to call for the

         16  next hearing in which this bill is going to be

         17  voted. We expect that that bill will be out of the

         18  Committee and in the full floor of the Council by

         19  the next hearing that we hold.

         20                 We want to thank each and every one

         21  of the people who came today to listen to this

         22  hearing and to offer their insight.

         23                 We, as the Committee, take very

         24  serious the suggestions of the owners, the

         25  suggestions of the testimony that was put forward by
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          2  the people who use the ferry system and we will make

          3  some modifications coming with the best bill

          4  possible.

          5                 Thank you very much. God bless you,

          6  and I'll see you in the next hearing. Bye-bye.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 12:11 p.m.)
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